1990

# Giles H. Florence v. S.N.L. Financial Corporation and George Quist : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals to hear this appeal by Section 78-2a-3(j), U.C.A. 1953, as amended (cases transferred from to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented on appeal are whether or not the lower court erred in (1) failing to consider parol evidence after finding as a matter of law that the parties' April 22, 1983 letter agreement contained obvious and admitted ambiguities; (2) determining as a matter of law that the subject agreement was not to be considered a brokerage agreement because there was no real property involved in the transaction entitling plaintiff to an agreed commission upon performance; or (3) failing to recognize a condition precedent in the May 31, 1984 release agreement between the parties which had not been satisfied.

The standard of review when considering a challenge to summary judgment is well settled. In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court analyzes the facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party. Atlas Corp. v. Clovis Nat'l Bank, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1987). Since summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, the Court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness.

Whether an ambiguity exists in a contract is a question of law which is reviewed on appeal for correctness. Jarman v. Reagan Outdoor Advertising, 794 P.2d 492 (Utah App. 1990). If a trial court interprets a contract as a matter of law, that interpretation is not afforded any particular deference on appeal. Power Systems & Controls, Inc. v. Keith's Elec. Constr. Co., 765 P.2d 5, 9 (Utah App. 1988). If the contract is ambiguous, but the case is decided on summary judgment, the appellate court can affirm only if the undisputed material facts concerning the parties' intent demonstrate that the successful litigant's position is correct as a matter of law. Utah R.Civ.P. 56(c); Fashion Place Inv. v. Salt Lake County, 776 P.2d 941 (Utah App. 1989).

In cases involving the interpretation of a document or an agreement, it is improper for a lower court considering summary judgment to weigh disputed evidence concerning its meaning; the sole inquiry is whether a genuine issue of material fact is presented. Spor v. Crested Butte Silver Min., Inc., 740 P.2d 1304, 1307 (Utah 1987). Only one sworn statement is required to dispute averments on the other side of the controversy and create issues of fact precluding summary judgment. Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for breach of contract to pay a commission which was commenced on September 12, 1985. Before trial, defendant submitted a Motion for Summary Judgment of Dismissal to the Honorable Homer Wilkinson, District Judge, which motion the District Court granted for the reason that the court considered the written agreement of the parties insufficiently clear to stand as a contractual agreement entitling appellant to the payment of a commission. The District Court acknowledged in its bench ruling that the language and legibility of the parties' agreement presented ambiguities which made it difficult to determine the parties' intent.

The court further noted in its bench ruling that a "Form A" filing of defendant with the North Dakota Insurance Department which was made for the purpose of obtaining approval of the subject acquisition also contained an ambiguity concerning the matter of a commission. The court refused to consider parol evidence which was available in the record to resolve either or both ambiguities which the court found to exist.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On or about April 22, 1983, a letter was directed to Appellant by Defendant Quist as president of S.N.L. Financial (S.N.L.), which set forth certain conditions including a price,

terms, and exchange properties which defendant S.N.L. Financial was willing to give in exchange for one David B. Johnson's stock holdings in Security International Company (SIC), a North Dakota corporation, the assets of which included as a wholly owned subsidiary Security International Insurance Company (SIIC), a domestic North Dakota life insurer.

2. The subject letter of April 22, 1983 provides under item six (6) for a "\$200,000.00 annuity", without further explanation. Parol evidence in the record, if considered, would establish that the annuity was a consideration to be paid appellant by S.N.L. as an agreed commission for bringing S.N.L. Financial as buyer and David B. Johnson as seller together on mutually agreeable terms. [Deposition of David B. Johnson, 24:5, Addendum, Exhibit 6; Affidavit of Giles H. Florence, Addendum, Exhibit 4]

3. On or about May 19, 1983, a definitive agreement was executed between S.N.L. as buyer and David B. Johnson as seller which set forth the detailed terms and conditions of the transaction, after the parties had been brought together by and the agreed terms had been negotiated through the appellant. The terms included real property and security interests in real property as partial consideration. [George Quist depo., 8:23-9:11, Addendum, Exhibit 5]

4. On or about September 28, 1983, defendant S.N.L. Financial filed with the Insurance Department of North Dakota a "Form A" document entitled "Statement Regarding the Acquisition of Control of a Domestic Insurer," setting forth the agreed terms for its purchase of Security International Corporation ("SIC") and its wholly owned subsidiary, Security International Insurance Company (SIIC) from David B. Johnson. [Deposition of George R. Quist, Addendum, Exhibit 5]

5. Defendant's "Form A" filing acknowledged a commission or finder's fee obligation to be paid appellant [George Quist Depo. pg. 24; Form "A", Addendum, Exhibit 7], which provision the trial court determined to be unclear and ambiguous. [Tr. Bench Ruling, Addendum, Exhibit 1, pg. 45]

6. The Boards of Directors of SIC, Security Holding, and S.N.L. Financial Group each by resolution unanimously approved the agreed transaction, and regulatory approval of the North Dakota Department of Insurance was obtained for the acquisition upon those agreed terms during the month of October 1983. [Affidavit of Giles Florence, Addendum, Exhibit 4]

7. Defendants' letter agreement to appellant dated April 22, 1983, specified certain conditions to be satisfied before the \$200,000.00 annuity would become payable. All of those conditions had been satisfied by the time the parties met for closing at

Fargo, North Dakota on or about May 31, 1984. [Affidavit of Giles Florence, Addendum, Exhibit 4; Johnson depo., pg. 60, Addendum, Exhibit 6]

8. At the time of closing, defendant Quist acting in his capacity as an officer of defendant S.N.L. unexpectedly refused to close according to the parties' agreement, the boards' approval, and the regulatory approval which had been given; and imposed new terms which were unacceptable to Mr. Johnson. The sale and exchange accordingly failed. [Florence Affidavit, Addendum, Exhibit 4; Johnson depo., pgs. 53-64, Addendum, Exhibit 6]

9. Before trial, defendants submitted a Motion for Summary Judgment of Dismissal to the Honorable Homer Wilkinson, District Judge, which motion the District Court granted for the reasons more fully discussed below.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

##### POINT I.

The trial court determined as a matter of law that the April 22, 1983 letter agreement was ambiguous and unclear as to its meaning. The court could not make out the language contained in the critical paragraph number six (6) which provided for a "\$200,000 annuity", without further explanation. The document is unclear concerning who was to receive the annuity, when, and for what. Appellant maintains that the annuity was agreed to be paid



to him as a commission for his brokerage services. No other or better explanation has been offered for its existence. The trial court determined that the language of paragraph 6 was ambiguous; but failed to consider available parol or extrinsic evidence to determine its meaning.

#### POINT II.

The trial court erred in ruling that the April 22, 1983 letter agreement did not meet the requirements of the Statute of Frauds. The Statute of Frauds, 25-5-4 U.C.A., 1953 as amended<sup>1</sup>, provides that "[e]very agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith." The Statute of Frauds does not require that the "note or memorandum" be clear or unambiguous, but only that it exist. For the trial court to conclude as it did that the written agreement did not satisfy the Statute of Frauds because its meaning was unclear to the court is manifest error.

#### POINT III.

The trial court determined that the letter agreement of April 22, 1983, did not amount to a "brokerage" agreement because it was

---

<sup>1</sup> 1989 amendment, effective April 24, 1989, rewrote the beginning of the section and made minor stylistic changes. The pre-1989 amendment should apply to this case. Section 68-3-3 U.C.A. (1986) provides that "[n]o part of these revised statutes is retroactive, unless expressly so declared." See also Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 253 (Utah 1988).

unclear and there was no "real property" involved in the transaction. The letter agreement identified certain real property which was to be exchanged in the transaction, and a brokerage agreement need not involve real property at all. The trial court erred by ignoring the fact that real property was involved, and in applying an interpretation of the term "broker" which makes it applicable only to real property transactions. Appellant was clearly acting as a "broker" from a legal standpoint.

#### POINT IV.

The trial court erred in considering the effect of the parties' subsequent May 31, 1984 agreement, which contained an unsatisfied condition precedent; specifically the unobtained approval of a third party. Appellant contends that the trial court failed to consider the entire transaction and both agreements as a whole in order to determine the parties' intent, once the court determined that ambiguity existed.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

#### **INTERPRETATION OF A CONTRACT IS EITHER A QUESTION OF LAW OR A QUESTION OF FACT**

The interpretation of a contract is either a question of law, which is to be determined by the words of the agreement; or a question of fact to be determined by considering extrinsic evidence

concerning the parties' intent. Allstate Enterprises, Inc. v. Heriford, 772 P.2d 466 (Utah App. 1989); Kimball v. Campbell, 699 P.2d 714 (Utah 1985). A determination of ambiguity must be made before the court will consider parol or extrinsic evidence of the parties' intent. Once an ambiguity is found to exist, available extrinsic evidence is admissible and must be considered.

The language in a written document is considered ambiguous if the words used in the contract may be understood to support two or more plausible meanings. Whitehouse v. Whitehouse, 131 Utah Adv. Rep. 28, 31 (Ct.App. 1990).

**A. THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED THE APRIL 22, 1983 AGREEMENT TO BE AMBIGUOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW**

The Utah Supreme Court in Faulkner v. Farnsworth, 665 P.2d 1292 (Utah 1983), held:

[w]hen a contract is ambiguous, because of uncertain meaning of terms, missing terms, or other facial deficiencies, parol evidence is admissible to explain the parties' intent.<sup>2</sup> Whether an ambiguity exists is a question of law to be decided before parol evidence may be admitted. As this court stated in Big Butte Ranch, Inc. v. Holm, 570 P.2d 690, 691 (Utah 1977):

[T]he court should first examine the language of the instruments and accord to it the weight and effect which it may show was intended and if the meaning is ambiguous or uncertain then consider parol evidence of the parties' intentions.

---

<sup>2</sup> Grow v. Marwick Development, Inc., 621 P.2d 1249 (Utah 1980).

Of course, a motion for summary judgment may not be granted if a legal conclusion is reached that an ambiguity exists in the contract and there is a factual issue as to what the parties intended. (Emphasis added) Id. at 691.

Ironically, the trial court in this case made a legal conclusion that ambiguity existed and then granted summary judgment because of the ambiguity, without any attempt to resolve it by considering available extrinsic evidence or allowing the question to be decided by a jury. Referring to the \$200,000.00 annuity provision, the trial court stated in its bench ruling [Addendum, Exhibit 1]:

....I could not make it all out (page 45)

....it does not spell out anything really as far as the terms (page 46)

....But this one just does not even get to the heart of it as far as indicating what is going to be done as far as the payment of a finders, a brokerage fee (Page 46)

....I am not persuaded that either the wording in paragraph 6 or the wording in the Form A is sufficient of a brokerage agreement to satisfy that a commission would be paid upon the broker finding a willing and able buyer (Page 45)

....I don't think the letter of April 22nd or anything in Form A satisfies [sic] the requirement of the law of the Statute of Frauds or the requirement as far as what must be in writing for a brokerage. (Page 46)

....I am of the opinion that the wording in the April 22nd letter and the Form A is not sufficient to spell out that anything was going to be paid regardless of what took place. I think the parties came down to it, that they did negotiate, and there may have been some misunderstanding as far as what was supposed to be paid [to] Mr. Florence. (Page 47, emphasis added)

By those statements, the trial court expressed its inability to comprehend the parties' intent because the written language employed was illegible and ambiguous. Inexplicably, the court refused to consider available extrinsic evidence of the parties' intent although it was clearly brought to the court's attention in memoranda and argument. In effect, the trial court resolved the issue by determining that it could not understand what the parties intended from the language used, and that since the court could not discern the parties' intent from the written language, the agreement was unenforceable; regardless what the other evidence outside the writing itself may disclose concerning its meaning. That view does violence to the Parol Evidence Rule, which exists for the very purpose of resolving such ambiguities.

The trial court's ruling in that respect is not in accord with prevailing authority. As indicated above, the interpretation of a contract may either be a question of law, to be determined by the words of the agreement if they are clear and unambiguous; or a question of fact to be determined by extrinsic evidence of intent. Allstate Enterprises, Inc. v. Heriford, 772 P.2d 466 (Utah App. 1989). If the contract is found to be ambiguous and the trial court makes findings regarding the intent of the parties, on appeal those findings will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. at 468. It would follow that if the trial court

determines the contract to be ambiguous and makes no findings regarding the intent of the parties but dismisses because of the ambiguity, that failure would constitute reversible error. Such is the posture of this case. The trial court made no attempt to determine the intent of the parties, after having found the critical ambiguity.

In C.J. Realty, Inc. v. Willey, 758 P.2d 923, 929 (Utah App. 1988), the Court of Appeals reversed a trial court's order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment with the following language:

Since the very essence of a finder's arrangement is locating buyers with whom a seller might do business...it would be extraordinary if the trial court were to conclude, absent a contractual provision expressly and unambiguously so providing, that the parties really meant to exclude certain properties from the scope of their agreement. (Emphasis in original) Nonetheless, the ambiguity in the contract leaves that possibility open. That ambiguity creates a material factual issue making summary judgment inappropriate and requiring resort to extrinsic evidence by the fact finder in an effort to determine what the parties actually intended. (Emphasis added) Id. at 929.

An ambiguity obviously exists in paragraph six (6) of the April 22, 1983, agreement pertaining to the \$200,000.00 annuity. As the trial court correctly observed, that provision has no clear meaning without further explanation.<sup>3</sup> It does not state to whom

---

<sup>3</sup> Trial Court's Bench Ruling, page 45-6 (Addendum, Exhibit 1)

the annuity is to be paid, when, or for what. Standing alone, it has no apparent meaning; yet it must mean something or the parties would not have written it into their agreement. Available parol evidence clearly discloses its meaning and should have been considered by the court, but was not.

Appellant maintains, and his position is amply supported by the record, that paragraph six (6) of the April 22, 1983 agreement provides for his commission, payable subject to the conditions appearing above it; that each of those conditions were satisfied; and that the commission was thereby earned. Those assertions are supported by the deposition testimony of the seller, Mr. David Johnson, which the trial court failed to consider. Defendants have offered no other or better explanation for the \$200,000.00 annuity provision, despite close questioning in the Quist depositions concerning its meaning and intent. There is quite simply no other or better meaning to be given the language used than that suggested by the appellant.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The trial court determined that the opposing affidavit of plaintiff was "flawed" but did not identify any particular portions that did not conform to Rule 56(e). There are clearly certain portions of the Florence affidavit which are admissible and pertain to the parties' intent in the April 22, 1983 agreement. The trial court disregarded all matters it considered to be extrinsic evidence.

Under applicable law, to the extent there is ambiguity there exists an issue of fact which, standing alone, precludes summary judgment. Parol evidence is always to be considered upon a finding of ambiguity in such cases to explain the parties' intent; which may indeed be explained in no other way. Faulkner, at 1293.

Where intent is at issue, under Utah law it must be determined by a finder of fact and cannot be resolved by summary judgment. The Appellate Court in C.J. Realty, supra, held:

Because there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the parties intended the property at issue to be included in the contract, we reverse the trial court's summary judgment and remand for further factual findings consistent with this opinion. Id. at 929.(emphasis added)

Only when contract terms are complete, clear, and unambiguous can they be interpreted as such by the judge and made a basis for summary judgment. Colonial Leasing v. Larson Bros. Const., 731 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986). If the evidence as to the terms of an agreement is in conflict, the intent of the parties as to the terms of the agreement may only be determined by the use of extrinsic evidence, and submission to a jury. Id. at 488. In this case the trial court did neither. Where questions arise in the interpretation of an agreement, the first source of inquiry is within the document itself. It should be looked at in its entirety and in accordance with its purpose. All of its parts should be given



effect insofar as that is possible. Regional Sales Agency, Inc. v. Reichert, 122 Utah Adv.Rep. 46, 48 (Ct. App. 1989)(quoting Big Cottonwood Tanner Ditch Co. v. Salt lake City, 740 P.2d 1357, 1359 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)). When that process fails to produce a clear meaning and intent, other evidence should, and must, be considered. In this case it quite clearly was not.

It remains uncertain from the contract language itself whether paragraph six (6) of the April 22, 1983 agreement was contemplated a commission to be paid appellant for his successful efforts in bringing the buyer and seller together on mutually agreeable terms, was part of the consideration to be paid by S.N.L. for purchase of SIC, or was something else. Since two or more plausible meanings can be derived from the language used (to the extent it is legible), and the trial court failed to consider available parol evidence to determine the parties' intent; the trial court clearly erred in ruling as it did.<sup>5</sup>

**B. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONSIDER  
PAROL EVIDENCE TO RESOLVE AMBIGUITY IN THE  
PARTIES' APRIL 22, 1983 AGREEMENT.**

It is the well-settled general rule that if an agreement is ambiguous because of lack of clarity in the meaning of particular

---

<sup>5</sup> Jarman v. Reagan Outdoor Advertising, 794 P.2d 492 (Utah App. 1990); Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Daskalas, 785 P.2d 1112, 1118 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

terms, it is subject to parol evidence concerning what the parties intended. Colonial Leasing Co. v. Larsen Bros. Const., 731 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986).<sup>6</sup>

Appellant maintains that the trial court erred in refusing to consider extrinsic or parol evidence which was available in the record to resolve ambiguity in the April 22, 1983 letter agreement between the parties. As indicated, the trial court in its bench ruling determined that paragraph six (6) of the letter agreement was ambiguous and for that reason insufficient to constitute an enforceable contract; without considering extrinsic or parol evidence which was available to resolve the ambiguity and clarify the parties' intent. The Utah Supreme Court in Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt v. Blomquist, 773 P.2d 1382, 1385 (Utah 1989) stated:

[The Court] first looks to the four corners of the agreement to determine the intentions of the parties and the use of extrinsic evidence is permitted only if the document appears to incompletely express the parties' agreement or if it is ambiguous in expressing that agreement.

The trial court in this case did not first "look to the four corners" of the letter agreement as a whole. The court considered only the language contained in paragraph six (6) which it determined was ambiguous and therefore not sufficient "of a brokerage

---

<sup>6</sup> Citing Faulkner v. Farnsworth, 665 P.2d 1292 (Utah 1983)

agreement."<sup>7</sup> Viewing the subject agreement as a whole, several points are established. The agreement is between the appellant and the defendants. The agreement sets forth the financial terms for the purchase of S.I.C. by S.N.L. Financial. The agreement provides for an annuity in the amount of \$200,000.00 which is not part of the consideration to be given for S.I.C.. Available parol evidence in the record discloses that the \$200,000.00 annuity represents an agreed broker's commission to appellant for bringing the buyer and seller together on mutually agreeable terms.

As a matter of law, the trial court committed error in not considering extrinsic or parol evidence to determine the parties' intent. The parties and the court acknowledge that the language of paragraph six is somewhat illegible and that, standing alone, it is ambiguous to the extent it is legible. If its' meaning or the parties' intent is to be understood, other evidence is required. Other evidence was available in the record but was not considered by the court.

In Barker v. Francis, 741 P.2d 548 (Utah App. 1987), the court stated "[I]t is not necessary, however, that the contract itself contain all the particulars of the agreement. The crucial factor is that the parties agreed on the essential elements of the

---

<sup>7</sup> Tr. Bench Ruling, pg. 45.

contract." In the present case, S.N.L. agreed in writing as part of its agreement to pay someone a \$200,000.00 annuity for something. That item was not a part of the purchase price, and from the available, but unconsidered evidence, it is undisputed that the \$200,000.00 annuity was in fact the appellant's commission. Mr. Johnson did not regard that item as part of his consideration from SNL. He understood and has testified that the \$200,000.00 annuity was in fact the appellant's commission.<sup>8</sup> The appellant has testified he understood that to be the case, and the defendants have provided no other explanation. The hard fact is that paragraph six annuity was the appellant's commission, and nothing else.

#### POINT II.

#### **THE TRIAL COURT FURTHER ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE AGREEMENT DID NOT SATISFY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.**

The trial court stated:

I am not persuaded that either the wording in paragraph 6 or the wording in the Form A is sufficient of a brokerage agreement to satisfy that a commission would be paid upon the broker finding a willing and able buyer. I don't think it's sufficient writing to meet that requirement and must be in writing under the Statute of Frauds.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>8</sup> Johnson depo., pg. 24, Addendum, Exhibit 6.

<sup>9</sup> Tr.Bench Ruling, pages 4-5 [Addendum, Exhibit 1].

The Statute of Frauds, 25-5-4 U.C.A., 1953 as amended<sup>10</sup>, provides that "[e]very agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith." Since the document is unquestionably a "note or memorandum" of some agreement between the parties and is subscribed by the "party to be charged" (S.N.L.), it obviously satisfies the Statute of Frauds. The trial court erred in ruling that the April 22, 1983 letter agreement did not.

It is also well settled that the Statute of Frauds does not preclude a party from proving the true nature of an agreement when that is the issue, rather than enforceability.<sup>11</sup> In this case, the only issue presented on summary judgment was whether there existed an agreement which provided Appellant a commission. The Statute of Frauds does not require that the "note or memorandum" be clear or unambiguous, but only that it exist. For the trial court to conclude as it did that the written agreement did not satisfy the

---

<sup>10</sup> 1989 amendment, effective April 24, 1989, rewrote the beginning of the section and made minor stylistic changes. The pre-1989 amendment should apply to this case. Section 68-3-3 U.C.A. (1986) provides that "[n]o part of these revised statutes is retroactive, unless expressly so declared." See also Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 253 (Utah 1988).

<sup>11</sup> Colonial Leasing v. Larson Bros. Const., 731 P.2d 483, 486 (Utah 1986).

Statute of Frauds because its meaning was unclear to the court is manifest error.<sup>12</sup>

In order to satisfy the requirements of the Statute of Frauds, Utah courts have held that the required "memorandum must identify the parties, subject matter, and set out the conditions of the transaction with adequate certainty." Furthermore, "the memorandum must show what the contract was, and not merely note the fact that some contract was made." Machan Hampshire v. Western Real Estate, 779 P.2d 230, 234 (Utah App. 1989)(emphasis added). The subject agreement clearly meets the above requirements by identifying the parties<sup>13</sup>, subject matter<sup>14</sup>, and conditions<sup>15</sup> of the transaction.

### POINT III.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES WAS NOT A BROKERAGE AGREEMENT ENTITLING APPELLANT TO AN AGREED COMMISSION UPON COMPLETION OF HIS PERFORMANCE.

By definition, a "broker" is a person whose duties are not limited to the sale of real property. Black's Law Dictionary, 174

---

<sup>12</sup> Footnote 2, supra.

<sup>13</sup> The April 22, 1983 agreement was addressed to the appellant and signed by appellee George Quist. [Addendum, Exhibit 2]

<sup>14</sup> Subject matter of the April 22, 1983 set forth with particularity the items for purchase by SNL. [Addendum, Exhibit 2]

<sup>15</sup> Conditions are set forth in the first paragraph of the April 22, 1983 agreement. [Addendum, Exhibit 2]

(5th Ed.) defines a "broker" as:

An agent employed to make bargains and contracts for a compensation. A middleman or negotiator between parties...A person whose business it is to bring buyer and seller together. The term extends to almost every branch of business, to realty as well as personalty.

The trial court narrowly considered appellant's role as a "broker" to be limited to the sale of real property.<sup>16</sup> The trial court stated: "I so find that, I don't think that this is a brokerage situation. There is not the sale of real property here. ... Therefore, I don't think that law applies at the outset."<sup>17</sup>

The court obviously erred in disregarding the fact that the agreement on its face involves several pieces of real property as part of the consideration to be given for S.I.C. [Addendum, exhibit 2]; and in overlooking the fact that a broker's rights and duties are not limited to transactions only involving "real property."

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