1990

Giles H. Florence v. S.N.L. Financial Corporation, and George Quist : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

No facts were presented to the Trial Court that Plaintiff was entitled to any commission. In fact, the undisputed evidence as contained in the May 31, 1984 Letter and Release demonstrate that Plaintiff expressly agreed that any, would be paid to a third party, who is not a party to the instant action. Even assuming arguendo that a commission became owing, it was not owing to Plaintiff. In addition, the lower court was not presented with any evidence that Plaintiff was, or is, a licensed real estate broker. Under such circumstances, Plaintiff is precluded from maintaining the instant action against these Defendants, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 61-2-18, (1953, as amended) (Addendum F).

The undisputed evidence showed that the April 22, 1983 handwritten letter was superseded through various exchanges, proposals and counter-offers and that the May 31, 1984 Letter and Release constituted the final agreement between the parties. The court further correctly determined that the approval of the May 31, 1984 letter by attorney, Joseph L. Henriod had no

bearing whatsoever as far as the situation was concerned between the parties. Therefore, the May 31, 1984 letter was not invalid for failure of a condition precedent, and the Release was effective, thereby releasing Defendants from any liability for payment of a commission.

Finally, the Trial Court correctly determined that the April 22, 1983 Letter was insufficient under the Statute of Frauds, even assuming that said Letter was applicable.

ARGUMENT

I.

PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO ANY COMMISSION.

A. No Commission Was to be Paid Plaintiff.

No evidence exists that Plaintiff is entitled to any commission. In fact, the only evidence before the Trial Court demonstrates that a third party, and not Plaintiff, was to receive a commission, if any. The May 31, 1984 Letter and Release expressly states that the commission, if any became owing, was to be paid to GH3, a corporation. GH3 is not a party to this action.

B. Plaintiff is Not a Licensed Broker.

Plaintiff has argued extensively that he is entitled to a "brokerage" fee or a commission because he brought a willing seller and a willing buyer together involving a sale of real property. However, there is

neither any allegation in Plaintiff's Complaint nor any evidence before the Court that Plaintiff was or is a licensed broker. Utah Code Annotated § 61-2-18, (1953, as amended) (Addendum F) prohibits any action, such as the instant one, for the recovery of any commission, which is brought by anyone other than a licensed broker. Therefore, should this Court determine that the transaction complained of involved real estate as defined by Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-2(8), 1953, as amended) (Addendum F), Plaintiff would not be entitled to recover.

C. Statute of Frauds.

This Court has held that the Statute of Frauds applies to "agreements requiring compensation for brokering real estate, including finder's agreement...." Machan Hampshire v. Western Real Estate, 779 P.2d 230, 234 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). It has further held that "a broker must allege and prove an express written contract to recover a commission." Id. Finally, this Court held, in C.J. Realty, Inc. v. Willey, 758 P.2d 923, 928 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), that in order for a brokerage agreement or contract to satisfy the Statute of Frauds, it must include the following critical terms:

- 1) It must identify the finder;
- 2) It must identify the finder's client;

3) It must identify the property owner who will owe a commission to the finder if the transaction is closed with the finder's client; and

4) It must identify the finder's commission rate.

Neither the May 31, 1984 Letter and Release, nor the April 22, 1983 letter (assuming it were applicable), contains the critical terms necessary to satisfy the Statute of Frauds. Therefore, the lower court's determination that the Statute of Frauds applies to the transaction at issue is correct. (Record at 00107, pp. 4-5) (Addendum E).

Since Plaintiff is not a licensed broker and since neither of the written agreements between the parties satisfies the Statute of Frauds, this Court should affirm the Order of Summary Judgment granted below.

II.

NO COMMISSION IS DUE BY VIRTUE OF THE MAY 31, 1984 LETTER AND RELEASE.

A. The April 22, 1983 Letter was Superseded by the May 31, 1984 Letter and Release.

In Verhoef v. Aston, 740 P.2d 1342, 1344 (Utah Ct. App. 1987), this Court held that "contracts should be construed so as to give effect to the parties' intentions, and such intent should be determined, if possible, by examining the written Agreement executed by the parties." (citing Atlas Corp. v. Clovis National

Bank, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1987)). When agreements are executed "substantially contemporaneously and are clearly interrelated, they must be construed as a whole and harmonized, if possible." Atlas Corp. v. Clovis National Bank, at 229.

In this case, it is undisputed that subsequent to the letter dated April 22, 1983, a series of correspondence, proposals and counter-proposals were exchanged between the Defendants and Seller, or their counsel, relating to SNL's purchase of Johnson's interest in SIC. It is further undisputed that the May 31, 1984 Letter and Release, which were executed in conjunction with each other, were intended to be and did in fact constitute the final agreement between the parties. As such, all prior negotiations and agreements, including the April 22, 1983 letter, merged into the May 31, 1984 Letter and Release which must be construed as a whole. See Verhoef v. Aston, at 1344 ("A basic tenet of contract law is that prior negotiations and agreements merge into the final written agreement on the subject.")

Based upon the undisputed facts, Defendants submit that the Trial Court correctly determined, as a matter of law, that the parties reduced their final agreement to the Letter and the Release, both dated May 31, 1984. (Record at 00107, p. 5) (Addendum E).

B. The Letter Conditioned Payment of a Commission Upon Closing.

The right to the receipt of a commission can be waived, (White v. Fox, 665 P.2d 1297, 1302 (Utah 1983)), or conditioned upon the buyer's performance Robert Langston, Ltd. v. McQuarrie, 741 P.2d 554, 558 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). As such there is no absolute right to a commission.

In this case, the May 31, 1984 letter specifically conditions the payment of any commission upon the transaction closing. Therefore, the Trial Court correctly determined, as a matter of law, that no commission was due inasmuch as the closing never occurred. (Record at 00107, pp. 2-3, 5-6) (Addendum E).

C. The May 31, 1984 Release is Effective and is Not Defeated by Plaintiff's Allegation of a Failure of a Condition Precedent.

As his only defense to the May 31, 1984 Release, which he executed, Plaintiff alleges that it did not take effect because the May 31, 1984 Letter was to have been approved by attorney, Joseph L. Henriod. However, Mr. Henriod's approval of the Letter had no bearing whatsoever on the transaction contemplated between Plaintiff and Defendants which was dealing with an entirely separate issue, did not form an essential part

of the bargain and had nothing to do with the Release becoming effective. Rather, the clause was inserted to ensure that the Court's Order in Florence's divorce proceeding was complied with.

In addition, Plaintiff's allegation is not well founded in law. Plaintiff, at page 24 of his Brief, has cited Welch Transfer and Storage, Inc. v. Oldham, 663 P.2d 73 (Utah 1983), in support of his position. However, his reliance on Welch is misplaced. In Welch, the Plaintiff brought an action for breach of a contract to exchange real properties on the condition that the Small Business Administration approve reciprocal assumption by each party of the Small Business Administration loan to the other. When the reciprocal assumption was not accomplished, the Trial Court concluded that the contract could not be enforced due to failure of mutual conditions. Welch at 76. On appeal, the Court did not conclude that no contract existed, as Plaintiff argues, but held that "the contract expired by its own terms." Id.

Here there was no necessity for any action by Mr. Henriod, because the transaction never closed.

Plaintiff has not, nor can he demonstrate any prejudice which he may have suffered as a result of Mr. Henriod's not reviewing the letter, although an argument might be made that Mr. Henriod's failure to disapprove

the letter was tantamount to at least tacit approval of the same.

III.

ALLEGED AMBIGUITY OF THE APRIL 22, 1983 LETTER.

Finally, beginning at page 9 of his Brief, Plaintiff alleges that the lower court determined the April 22, 1983, Letter to be ambiguous as a matter of law. Such an allegation is completely false and is a gross misrepresentation of Judge Wilkinson's ruling. (Record at 00107, pp. 1-6) (Addendum E). The court never found or held that the April 22, 1983, Letter was ambiguous. Indeed, the transcript of the Judge's bench ruling (Record at 00107) (Addendum E) is void of any reference to any ambiguity. Rather, the trial court found that the April 22, 1983, Letter was insufficient as a brokerage agreement to satisfy that a commission would be paid under the Statute of Frauds, and that essential terms for the payment of a commission were missing. (Record at 00107 pp. 4-5) (Addendum E).